**No. 24-CF-0828**

Clerk of the Court

**THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS**

Received 05/19/2025 02:57 PM  
Filed 05/19/2025 02:57 PM

**GRISELDA MARTINEZ-MOZ**

*v.*

**UNITED STATES**

**CRIMINAL:**

*Appeal from the Superior Court (O'Keefe, Judge)*

**BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

Abraham Fernando Carpio  
Prince George's Professional Park  
3311 Toledo Terrace  
Suite B-201  
Hyattsville, MD 20782  
DC Bar No: 998364  
(301) 559-8100/ carpiolaw@gmail.com  
*Counsel for Appellant*

##

## QUESTIONS PRESENTED

I. Did the trial court commit structural error in failing to consider Appellant's transgender identity<sup>1</sup> as a woman when admitting other crimes evidence against the Appellant, both concerning other alleged (i) crimes in the State of Maryland and (ii) one additional un-charged crime in the District of Columbia?

II. Was the evidence legally sufficient to convict Appellant of Count II and did the trial court commit a structural error in denying the Motion for Judgment of Acquittal it held sub-curia by failing to recognize the structural damage to the whole case from the admission of the *Drew* evidence it admitted?

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

When reviewing a trial court's denial of a motion for new trial or an evidentiary motion, this court "must defer to the [trial] court's findings of evidentiary fact and view those facts and the reasonable inferences therefrom in the light most favorable to sustaining the ruling below."

---

<sup>1</sup> As a sub-argument and question on appeal, did the court commit also plain-error in failing to take into account Appellant's protections for her transgender rights in its *Drew/Johnson* analysis under section 301 (c) of the Human Rights Act of 1977 (Act), effective December 13, 1977 (D.C. Law 2-38; D.C. Official Code § 2-1403.01(c), adopts a new Chapter 8 of Title 4 of the District of Columbia Municipal Regulations (DCMR)?

*Jackson v. United States*, 157 A.3d 1259, 1264 (D.C. 2017) (*quoting*

*Joseph v. United States*, 926 A.2d 1156, 1160 (D.C. 2007)).

However, on a “... question of law .... we review de novo.” *Posey v. United States*, 201 A.3d 1198, 1201 (D.C. 2019) (*citing Miles v. United States*, 181 A.3d 633, 637 (D.C. 2018)). Whether the evidence is legally sufficient and whether evidence is other crimes evidence are questions of law. *Id.*

## **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

### ***A. Relevant Pretrial Facts***

The Defendant was originally charged in a two-count indictment, with one count of First-Degree Child Sexual Abuse (Aggravating Circumstances), in violation of 22 D.C. Code, Section 3008, 3020(a)(1), 3020(a)(2) (2001 ed.) and one count of First-Degree Child Sexual Abuse (Aggravating Circumstances), in violation of 22 D.C. Code, Section 3008, 3020(a)(1), 3020(a)(2) (2001 ed.).

The indictment sought by the United States, drafted by the Office of the United States Attorney and handed down by the Grand Jury in the above-titled case states with particularity, the following:

The Grand Jury charges:

**FIRST COUNT:**

Between on or about January 1, 2015, and on or about December 31, 2016, within the District of Columbia, Griselda Martinez Moz, also known as Francesco Martinze Moz, also known as Marcia Martinez Moz, also known as Marcella Castillo, being more than four years older than N.C., a child under sixteen years of age, that is, 7 or 8 years of age, engaged in a sexual act with that child and cause that child to engage in a sexual act, that is penetration of N.C.'s vulva by Griselda Martinez Moz, also known as Francesco Martinze Moz, also known as Marcia Martinez Moz, also known as Marcella Castillo's, penis.

(First Degree Child Sexual Abuse, in violation of 22 D.C. Code, Section 3008 (2001 ed.).

The Grand Jury Further Charges that at the time Griselda Martinez Moz, also known as Francesco Martinze Moz, also known as Marcia Martinez Moz, also known as Marcella Castillo committed First Degree Child Sexual Abuse, the victim, N.C., was under the age of eighteen years and had a significant relationship with Griselda Martinez Moz, also known as Francesco Martinze Moz, also known as Marcia Martinez Moz, also known as Marcella Castillo, in that Griselda Martinez Moz, also known as Francesco Martinze Moz, also known as Marcia Martinez Moz, also known as Marcella Castillo was a legal or de factor guardian more than 4 years older than the victim, who resides intermittently or permanently in the same dwelling as N.C.

(First Degree Child Sexual Abuse (Aggravating Circumstances), in violation of 22 D.C. Code, Section 3008, 3020(a)(1), 3020(a)(2) (2001 ed.).

**SECOND COUNT:**

Between on or about January 1, 2015, and on or about December 31, 2016, within the District of Columbia, Griselda Martinez Moz, also known as Francesco Martinze Moz, also known as Marcia Martinez Moz, also known as Marcella Castillo, being more than four years older than N.C., a child under sixteen years of age, that is, 7 or 8 years of age, engaged in a sexual act with that child and cause that child to engage in a sexual act, that

is penetration of N.C.'s vulva by Griselda Martinez Moz, also known as Francesco Martinze Moz, also known as Marcia Martinez Moz, also known as Marcella Castillo's penis.

(First Degree Child Sexual Abuse, in violation of 22 D.C. Code, Section 3008 (2001 ed.))

The Grand Jury Further Charges that at the time Griselda Martinze-Moz, also known as Francesco Martinze Moz, also known as Marcia Martinez Moz, also known as Marcella Castillo committed First Degree Child Sexual Abuse, the victim, N.C., was under the age of eighteen years and had a significant relationship with Griselda Martinez Moz, also known as Francesco Martinze Moz, also known as Marcia Martinez Moz, also known as Marcella Castillo, in that Griselda Martinez Moz, also known as Francesco Martinze Moz, also known as Marcia Martinez Moz, also known as Marcella Castillo was a legal or de factor guardian more than 4 years older than the victim, who resides intermittently or permanently in the same dwelling as N.C.

(First Degree Child Sexual Abuse (Aggravating Circumstances), in violation of 22 D.C. Code, Section 3008, 3020(a)(1), 3020(a)(2) (2001 ed.))

It was upon the above indictment that the United States tried Defendant Moz over the course of a multi-day trial, and presented its evidence in its case in chief as follows.

Immediately prior to trial, however, the Government filed a Motion to Admit *Drew*, other crimes evidence against Appellant that allegedly transpired in Maryland, which the Government later supplemented and added another not previously revealed un-charged crime in the District of Columbia. (See, Government's Motion and Supplemental Motion).

Following an evidentiary hearing, the Court granted the Government's

Original Motion and its Supplemental Motion and proceeded to admit the alleged out of State and additional D.C. evidence at trial.

***B. Trial Variances on Count II***

During a trial in the above-mentioned case on the first count of the indictment, the alleged victim, N.C., testified before the Court that the first instance of child sexual abuse allegedly performed by the Defendant was accomplished through penial “vaginal penetration.”

However, when N.C. next testified as to the second count, N.C. only testified that Defendant asked N.C. to perform oral sex, and did not reference, mention or accuse Defendant of performing any form of vaginal intercourse with N.C.

More specifically, during the Government’s direct examination of the alleged victim, N.C., at trial, N.C. described two incidents that have allegedly occurred between her and the Defendant. N.C. described that the first incident occurred at the Riggs Road apartment where she shared a room with her mother and the Defendant (Jury Trial (W), pg. 12-13, lines 23(12)-3(13)).

Further, N.C. testified that the Defendant had sexually abused her while her grandmother and mother were out, when the Defendant allegedly started touching her chest and lower body with her hand, and then put her penis in her vagina (Jury Trial (W), pg. 13-14, lines 18(13)-14(14)).

After her testimony regarding the first incident, N.C. testified to the second incident, clearly stating that the Defendant had allegedly told her to “sit down” when she knelt, after which the Defendant allegedly “lifted up her skirt and she told me to suck her penis,” which N.C. testified to doing when she stated that “I looked at her, and then I looked down and I did so” (Jury Trial (W), pg. 19, lines 13-25, Exhibit 1).

The following day, N.C. testified in relation to Count II, indicating there was in fact a vaginal penetration performed by the Defendant in the second instance as well, providing exclusively vague details about this instance.

In her testimony on Thursday, March 14. 2024, N.C. confirmed that she had testified to both vaginal and oral sex the day before, upon which she was reminded of the forensic interview, when she testified there were two instances of vaginal sex that occurred in Washington, D.C., and she further stated that she did not talk about this instance the day before as she was distraught about talking about it (Jury Trial (T), pg. 2-4, lines 11(2)-1(4)).

She then stated that she was distraught about the instance of oral sex and proceeded to give details regarding the second instance of vaginal sex, stating that this had occurred in the shared bedroom on the Defendant’s bed, when the Defendant’s skirt was lifted. (Id.).

She added that she did not remember much of it besides that she wore a

nightgown, her legs were straight, the Defendant's skirt was up, and that she had not said anything to the Defendant (Jury Trial (T), pg. 4-6, lines 12(4)-20(6).

N.C. testified she was happy when the Defendant moved out of the apartment and she and her family also moved because she thought the apartment was a constant reminder of what happened, upon which she stated that she saw the Defendant again in 2019 (referred to as the 'Maryland allegations' in the transcript) at the family gathering when the Defendant was in her (N.C.'s) bedroom and told her mother that she had "felt her penis inside me," exact words being "I felt it inside me" (Jury Trial (T), pg. 9-15, lines 24(5)-1(15)).

N.C. added that after she told her mother, her mother checked her in the bathroom and after there was no blood or anything else, her mother told her that she might have felt it near her, maybe on her back, after which she just agreed with her mother, as she was concerned for her health (Jury Trial (T), pg. 15, lines 2-22). Other facts will be added and supplemented in the foregoing brief.

## STATEMENT OF THE LAW

### ***A. Other Crimes Evidence and Structural Error***

The rules of evidence protect the accused in a criminal case from having evidence of one crime used to prove disposition to commit another. According to the so-called “propensity rule,” which is indispensable to the presumption of innocence and a fair trial, evidence of a person’s character or character trait cannot be used to prove that on a particular occasion the person acted in accordance with that character or trait.

In other words, the government must prove that you committed a crime, not that you are a bad person. The rule on “other crimes, wrongs, or acts” (or “bad acts”) is provided for in Federal Rule of Evidence 404(b). In the District of Columbia, the prohibited evidence is known simply as “*Drew* evidence” based on *Drew v. United States*, 331 F.2d 85 (D.C. Cir. 1964). There are two forms of “prior bad acts” or “other crimes evidence” in D.C.

While *drew* itself refers only to evidence of a crime or bad act that is independent of the crime in question. In *Thompson v. United States*, 546 A.2d 414, for example, the government sought to introduce evidence of the defendant’s prior conviction for selling PCP as evidence of his intent to sell PCP on the day in question.

As with the Federal rule, such evidence is only admissible if the government can prove that it is relevant to motive, intent, the absence of mistake or accident, a common scheme or plan embracing the commission of two or more crimes so related to each other that proof of the one tends to establish the other, or the identity of the person charged with the commission of the crime at trial. *Drew*, 331 F.2d at 90.

Before a court may admit other crimes evidence under one of the exceptions, the government must first establish (1) by clear and convincing evidence that the defendant committed the other crimes, (2) that the other crimes evidence is directed toward a genuine, material and contested issue in the case, (3) that the evidence is logically relevant to prove this issue for a reason other than its power to demonstrate criminal propensity, and (4) that the prejudicial impact of the evidence does not substantially outweigh its probative value. *Legette v. United States*, 69 A.3d 373, 379 (D.C. 2013).

The second form of other crimes evidence is known as either *Johnson* or *Tolliver* evidence.

According to *Johnson v. United States*, 683 A.2d 1087 (D.C. 1996) (en banc), the *Drew* rule barring propensity evidence does not apply if the other crimes evidence is direct and substantial proof of the charged crime, is closely

intertwined with the evidence of the charged crime or is necessary to place the charged crime in an understandable context.” Evidence under *Tolliver v. United States*, 468 A.2d 958, 960 (D.C. 1983) is “admissible to complete the story of the crime on trial by proving its immediate context.”

To introduce *Johnson* or *Tolliver* evidence, however, the government must prove by clear and convincing evidence that the accused committed the other offense. It is also required to prove that the probative value of the evidence is not substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. *Johnson*, 683 A.2d at 1099.

In deciding whether the danger of unfair prejudice substantially outweighs probative value, the trial court must weigh (1) the strength of the evidence as to the commission of the other crime, (2) the similarities between the crimes, (3) the interval of time that has elapsed between the crimes, (4) the need for the evidence, (5) the efficacy of alternative proof, and (6) the degree to which the evidence probably will rouse the jury to overmastering hostility. *Id.* at 1095 n.8. And as will be argued here, the Court should have also considered the transgender identity of the Appellant in the factorial analysis, to not negate Appellant’s defense as a whole. *Id.*

Failing to account or undue prejudice under the facts of this case, would thus cause structural damage to the defense and impregnate the conviction with undue prejudice, beyond the reach of harmless error. *See, Chapman v. California*, 386 U.S. 18, 22 (1967).

### **B. Fatal Variances Warrant Reversal**

A motion for judgment of acquittal must be granted if the evidence is legally or factually insufficient to prove the case beyond a reasonable doubt, even when viewed in the light most favorable to the State; or if there is a fatal variance between the *allegata and probata*.

While probable cause is a fluid concept, at a minimum it requires the Government to have a substantial basis to believe that criminal activity is being committed, within the criminal statute charged. *Maryland v. Pringle*, 540 U.S. at 375.

For this reason, it has been uniformly held across all circuits and the District of Columbia, that a fatal variance from the charges in the indictment to the proof presented at trial, thus warrants a judgement of acquittal as the variance in the proof is both material and prejudicial. *Stirone v. United States*, 361 U.S. 212 (1960); *United States v. Dello Santos*, 649 F.3d 109 (1st Cir. 2011), *United States v. Lander*, 668 F.3d 1289 (11th Cir. 2012), *United States*

*v. Madden*, 733 F.3d 1314 (11th Cir. 2013), *United States v. Ward*, 747 F.3d 1184 (9th Cir. 2014); *United States v. Hoover*, 467 F.3d 496 (5th Cir. 2006).

Importantly, when a fatal variance is identified and the variance is material, it is not subject to harmless error-analysis and the conviction must be reversed. *United States v. Farr*, 536 F.3d 1174 (10th Cir. 2008), *United States v. McKee*, 506 F.3d 225 (3rd Cir. 2007); *United States v. Stigler*, 413 F.3d 588 (7th Cir. 2005); *United States v. Ross*, 412 F.3d 771 (7th Cir. 2005)

It follows that if the government presents at trial proof of a different crime, instead of the indicted offense in its trial of the merits, that the variance violates the accused's Fifth Amendment rights, and the accused would not be on notice of the charges; and to allow it to proceed to verdict would improperly amend the charges to the detriment of the accused. *United States v. Milstein*, 401 F.3d 53 (2d Cir. 2005); *United States v. Combs*, 369 F.3d 925 (6th Cir. 2004), *United States v. Floresca*, 38 F.3d 706 (4th Cir. 1994); *United States v. Wozniak*, 126 F.3d 105 (2d Cir. 1997); *United States v. Doucet*, 994 F.2d 169 (5th Cir. 1993); *United States v. Lawton*, 995 F.2d 290 (D.C. Cir. 1993).

## LEGAL ARGUMENT

### **A. *The Court Committed a Structural Error in Admitting Other Crimes Evidence Without Taking into Account Appellant was a Transgender Woman for Undue Harm Analysis***

The trial court here erred trusting that the Government's assertion that each of the events noticed by the Government was admissible as *Johnson* evidence, when in fact it was not; and more importantly, was unduly prejudicial when the trial court ignored Appellant's defense of actual impossibility due to her status as a transgender woman.

To begin, the crimes alleged in Maryland were not admissible under *Johnson* or *Toliver*, *supra*, because they were not "direct and substantial proof of the charged crime;" nor were they "closely intertwined with the evidence of the charged crime," nor "necessary to place the charged crime in an understandable context." *Johnson*, 683 A.2d at 1098. Simply put, they were other crimes evidence and should have been excluded under *Drew*, *supra*. More importantly, there was nothing intrinsic in those alleged crimes that was either necessary or intertwined to place the indicted charges in context. *Id.*

In fact, the Government's lack of concrete forensic evidence such as DNA, saliva or semen samples proves this. Clearly the Government wanted to include these alleged post-facto alleged crimes in another jurisdiction to make their own story more credible, rather than to "complete the story." *Id.*

(quoting *Williams v. United States*, 106 A.3d 1063, 1067 (D.C. 2015)); see *Toliver*, 468 A.2d at 960-61 (evidence "relevant to explain the immediate circumstances surrounding the offense charged" "is not other crimes evidence because it is too intimately entangled with the charged criminal conduct").

Contrary the Government's claim, *Johnson* evidence is only presumptively admissible as direct evidence of the charged offenses if the court accepts that preliminary proffer on the grounds of logical relevance. *Id.* The safest course of course is for the Court to examine the evidence first under a clear and convincing standard for logical relevance, and then to apply the clear and convincing standard.

The Government was wrong to assume, and the court erred in taking the grand jury testimony and the forensic interview of the victim as proof of these other crimes, given that neither explained the context of the delayed disclosure which was key here. *Brown v. United States*, 840 A.2d 82, 90-94 (D.C. 2004).

More importantly, neither of these two pieces of evidence explained why Maryland did not charge Appellant Moz earlier, or why the alleged victim did not file these charges in Maryland at all. (*Id.*) And the trial court certainly did not take that into account in its factorial analysis either. (*Id.*)

The Court also erred in assuming that the Maryland evidence provided details about what occurred between December 31, 2016, the end date for the

charged offenses, and July of 2019, when the disclosure occurred. (Id.). Nothing in the forensic interview or the grand jury testimony linked the dichotomous and anomalous events, and neither explained the true context of this case. Which is why would a transgender woman who is attracted to men rape a female child in the first place?

The Court simply ignored this huge and tremendously important fact in its factorial analysis, since the trial court knew from the beginning of the prosecution that Moz was a transgender woman.

In summary, the Government's assertions that the Maryland crimes were necessary to be included in this prosecution because the child reported self-harm are simply pretextual and post-facto rationalizations by the prosecution team, rather than factually provable and sound factual claims. (See, Gov. Motion to Admit Drew Evidence).

In fact, the Government's own medical evidence refuted this claim. The victim's own medical records from Children's National Medical Center indicate that the child suffered a self-cutting incident in July 2019 was related to a weight issue. (Id.).

The Government knew, as the trial Court presumably knew, that had the Children's Hospital received a complaint of sexual abuse related to this self-cutting incident, they would have had to report it as such – but they didn't.

(Id.). This important logical step in the analysis was ignored by the trial court.

Similarly, the Government's reference and the trial court's reliance on the claim that an "acrylic" nail found on December 15, 2023, by the victim was the cause of the self-harm is nothing more than voluptuous speculation, which was directly unsupported by the child's medical records from Children's. (Id.).

These claims as to events in Maryland were thus logically untangled from the charged offenses and did not actually provide any context to understand the complainant's delay in disclosing and the circumstances of her ultimate disclosure<sup>2</sup>. *See Johnson*, 683 A.2d at 1098.

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