BRIEF FOR APPELLEE

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA
COURT OF APPEALS

Clerk of the Court
Received 09/22/2025 01:31 PM
Filed 09/22/2025 01:31 PM

No. 24-CF-828

GRISELDA MARTINEZ-MOZ,

Appellant,

v.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT
OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA
CRIMINAL DIVISION

JEANINE FERRIS PIRRO
United States Attorney

CHRISELLEN R. KOLB
KATHLEEN HOUCK

NIKI HOLMES

* MARK HOBEL
D.C. Bar #1024162
Assistant United States Attorneys

* Counsel for Oral Argument
601 D Street, NW, Room 6.232
Washington, D.C. 20530
Mark.Hobel@usdoj.gov
(202) 252-6829

Cr. No. 2022-CF1-1657

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

court replied that the parties would have “to wait” for a ruling, because “[t]hat’s fact-specific” (*id.*). The next day, after Martinez-Moz had called her other witnesses, the defense inquired whether calling “the two erection doctors” to testify would “open[] the door” to evidence that Martinez-Moz ejaculated during the couch incident (3/19/24 Tr. 224-25). The trial court cautioned that its ultimate ruling would be “very fact-specific,” and suggested that it would depend on whether “the doctors are going to say there [was] no chance” Martinez-Moz could obtain an erection, or whether she retained some “potential for an erection” (*id.* 224). According to defense counsel, Martinez-Moz was “not willing to take that gamble” and “risk [another] sex offense coming in,” so the defense did not call the experts or present evidence that Martinez-Moz could not achieve an erection (*id.* 225, 269).

B. Standard of Review and Applicable Legal Principles

“A trial judge has broad discretion to determine the admissibility of evidence of uncharged misconduct as direct and substantial proof of the crime charged under *Johnson*, and on appeal [this Court’s] review of a judge’s ruling admitting such evidence is limited to a consideration of whether there has been an abuse of discretion.” *Smallwood v. United States*, 312 A.3d 219, 225 (D.C. 2024). “Such review [is] ‘supervisory in nature and deferential in attitude.’” *Id.* Moreover, even where this Court finds error, it may find “that the fact of error in the trial court’s

determination caused no significant prejudice and hold, therefore, that reversal is not required because the error was harmless.” *Id.* (quotation marks omitted).

“When an appellant presents an issue which he did not raise in the trial court, [this Court] review[s], if at all, for plain error, whether the alleged error is non-constitutional or constitutional in nature.” *Lowery v. United States*, 3 A.3d 1169, 1172-73 (D.C. 2010). “Under the test for plain error, appellant first must show (1) error, (2) that is plain, and (3) that affected appellant’s substantial rights. Even if all three of these conditions are met, this [C]ourt will not reverse unless (4) the error seriously affects the fairness, integrity, or public reputation of judicial proceedings.” *Id.* (quotation marks omitted).

“Under *Drew*, evidence of another crime cannot be introduced to prove disposition of the defendant to commit the crime charged.” *Brown v. United States*, 840 A.2d 82, 94 (D.C. 2004). Courts therefore “exclude evidence of other crimes unless that evidence can be admitted for some substantial, legitimate purpose.” *Hughes v. United States*, 150 A.3d 289, 301 (D.C. 2016) (quoting *Drew*, 331 F.2d at 89-90). Under *Johnson*, however, “*Drew* does not apply when the challenged evidence ‘(1) is direct and substantial proof of the charged crime, (2) is closely intertwined with the evidence of the charged crime, or (3) is necessary to place the charged crime in an understandable context.’” *Brown*, 840 A.2d at 94 (quoting *Johnson*, 683 A.2d at 1098). *See also Toliver*, 468 A.2d at 461 (“[I]n cases where

evidence of incidental, uncharged criminal conduct is inextricably intertwined with evidence of the charged offense, evidence of the uncharged criminal conduct is directly admissible without the necessity of a cautionary *Drew* instruction.”). “[I]f evidence is to be admitted under *Toliver* or *Johnson*, it must pass the balancing test of probative value against the potential for unfair prejudice. Under that test, evidence otherwise relevant may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice.” *Hughes*, 150 A.3d at 301 (citations and quotation marks omitted).

C. Discussion

1. The Trial Court Did Not Abuse its Discretion in Admitting as *Johnson* Evidence the 2019 Maryland Incident and the Oral Sex Occurring During the Sexual Abuse Charged in Count Two.

The trial court did not abuse its discretion, let alone plainly err, in admitting “limited” *Johnson* evidence, including evidence that the Maryland June 2019 incident prompted N.C. to disclose Martinez-Moz’s sexual abuse the following month, and that Martinez-Moz forced N.C. to perform oral sex before the second charged vaginal rape (R.488 (*Drew/Johnson* Order 13-14))).

As to evidence that the June 2019 incident prompted N.C.’s disclosure, the trial court correctly determined that it was “admissible under *Johnson*” because it was “necessary to place the charged crime in an understandable context” and

“provide[] context for [N.C.’s] eventual disclosure in July 2019” (R.487 (*Drew/Johnson* Order 12)). This Court has previously held that other-crimes evidence is admissible under *Johnson* where “it aid[s] the jury in understanding what finally prompted [a child victim] to come forward with her serious allegations [of child sexual abuse]” and thus “serve[s] to place the charged crimes in context.” *Brown*, 840 A.2d at 94. Here, the trial court reasonably found a causal link between the June 2019 incident and N.C.’s disclosure the next month: the renewed abuse and the discovery of Martinez-Moz’s acrylic nail in N.C.’s bedroom triggered self-harm, and the discovery of the self-harm by N.C.’s family precipitated N.C.’s disclosure of the sexual abuse (R.488 (*Drew/Johnson* Order 13 (“[F]inding the nail reminded [N.C.] of the abuse, which led her to harm herself.”)). Because evidence of the June 2019 incident was necessary to “aid[] the jury in understanding what finally prompted” N.C. to disclose the charged sexual abuse, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting the evidence under *Johnson*. *Brown*, 840 A.2d at 94. *See also Hughes*, 150 A.3d at 302-03 (evidence that supervisor sexually abused other employees and created climate of “fear” in workplace was admissible to explain principal employee victim’s delayed disclosure).

Martinez-Moz acknowledges that “the context of the delayed disclosure” was “key here” (Br. 16). She argues, however, that N.C.’s disclosure in July 2019 “was extremely delayed and unjustified” because the charged offenses occurred several

years earlier, and the June 2019 incident “should not have been presented to the jury for this reason alone” (Br. 18). That gets things backwards. The June 2019 incident was highly probative because it helped explain the context of the delayed disclosure and “what finally prompted [N.C.] to come forward.” *Brown*, 840 A.2d at 94. Without that explanation, the jury would have been deprived of important context for the disclosure of the charged offenses and susceptible to Martinez-Moz’s misleading suggestion that N.C. “disclosed the charged abuse out of the blue, *with no triggering event*, two and a half years after the claimed sexual abuse ended, because it never happened” (Br. 19 (emphasis added)).⁴

As for the oral sex “which occurred during the second incident in D.C. (Count Two)” (Br. 20-21), Martinez-Moz conceded in a trial court pleading that “evidence of the uncharged act of alleged oral sex” was “proper *Johnson/Toliver* evidence” (R.341 n.1 (*Drew/Johnson* Opposition 5 n.1)). Martinez-Moz has thus waived her claim that the trial court “erred in admitting” this evidence (Br. 20), because “a defendant may not take one position at trial and a contradictory position on appeal.”

⁴ Martinez-Moz also appears to argue that the trial court was required to make findings about the June 2019 incident under a “clear and convincing standard” (Br. 16), but that is a requirement for “*Drew*-type evidence.” *Drake v. United States*, 315 A.3d 1196, 1208 (D.C. 2024). The trial court admitted evidence of the June 2019 incident under *Johnson*, so it was not subject to “the *Drew* strictures.” *Id.*; *see also Johnson*, 683 A.2d at 1098. Nor is it relevant “why Maryland did not charge” Martinez-Moz (Br. 16). *See Hilton v. United States*, 250 A.3d 1061, 1070 (D.C. 2021) (*Johnson* applies to “uncharged criminal conduct”).

Mason v. United States, 53 A.3d 1084, 1102 (D.C. 2012). In any event, the oral sex occurred during the same encounter and immediately preceded the vaginal rape charged in Count Two, so it was admissible under *Johnson* and *Toliver* as “part of the immediate circumstances surrounding” the charged offense and “necessary to place the charged crime in an understandable context.” *Hughes*, 150 A.3d at 301 (quotation marks omitted).

2. The Trial Court Did Not Plainly Err in Failing to Address, Sua Sponte, Whether Limited Testimony About the 2019 Maryland Incident Unduly Prejudiced Martinez-Moz in Light of Her Impossibility Claims.

This Court may review only for plain error Martinez-Moz’s claim that the trial court abused its discretion in admitting *Johnson* evidence without considering Martinez-Moz’s “defense of actual impossibility due to her status as a transgender woman” (Br. 15). Martinez-Moz failed to preserve this issue in the trial court. *See* Super. Ct. Crim. R. 52(b); *Lowery*, 3 A.3d at 1172-73. The trial court issued its *Drew/Johnson* Order on January 4, 2024, finding that “limited” evidence of the Maryland June 2019 incident would be admissible under *Johnson* and “the danger of unfair prejudice does not substantially outweigh the probative value of the evidence” (R.488 (*Drew/Johnson* Order 13)).

On the very same day, in a trial-continuance motion, Martinez-Moz first alerted the court that she wanted to present evidence “to show that it would have been physically impossible for [her] to do any of the things [N.C. was] alleging” (R.421 (Continuance Motion 2)). However, Martinez-Moz never attempted to link her proposed “actual impossibility” defense to the admissibility of the June 2019 incident as *Johnson* evidence, nor did she ask the trial court to reconsider its earlier ruling. By contrast, after speaking with Martinez-Moz’s proposed experts, the government requested that the court reconsider its ruling to exclude evidence of the couch incident involving ejaculation, because it would be “necessary to negate the defense of impossibility” (R.708 (Government Reconsideration Motion 5)). Although Martinez-Moz now claims that “her status as a transgender woman” and “defense of actual impossibility” were “huge and tremendously important fact[s]” (Br. 15, 17) in the *Johnson* analysis, she never argued that the trial court should consider these factors in its discretionary balancing of “probative value against the potential for unfair prejudice.” *Johnson*, 683 A.2d at 1098. Martinez-Moz’s claim thus “presents an issue which [s]he did not raise in the trial court,” and is subject to review for plain error only. *Lowery*, 3 A.3d at 1172-73.⁵

⁵ Martinez-Moz incorrectly claims that the trial court committed “structural error” in admitting *Johnson* evidence “without taking into account [that Martinez-Moz] was a transgender woman” (Brief 15). “A structural error is different from a ‘trial error,’ which is capable of being ‘quantitatively assessed in the context of other (continued . . .)

Martinez-Moz’s central claim appears to be that the probative value of the Maryland June 2019 incident in providing context for N.C.’s delayed disclosure of the charged D.C. offenses was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice to her “defense of actual impossibility due to her status as a transgender woman” (Br. 15). According to Martinez-Moz, “the trial [c]ourt gutted her defense of actual impossibility by virtue of her status as a transgender woman, i.e., that she could not have committed the offenses due to her sexual identity as a transgender woman” (*id.* 19). This contention utterly fails.

First, Martinez-Moz did not pursue a defense of actual impossibility. Although Martinez-Moz belatedly noticed experts who would have testified that Martinez-Moz’s hormone medication might have made it more difficult for her to achieve an erection in some circumstances, Martinez-Moz did not call these experts. Martinez-Moz also chose not to testify, and she failed to present any other evidence that she was physically incapable of raping N.C. Indeed, Martinez-Moz’s “defense

evidence presented in order to determine whether its admission was harmless.”” *Arthur v. United States*, 986 A.2d 398, 413 (D.C. 2009) (quoting *Arizona v. Fulminante*, 499 U.S. 279, 307-08 (1991)). An alleged error in the admission of other-crimes evidence is a classic example of “trial error” that is clearly subject to harmless-error analysis. *See, e.g., Thomas v. United States*, 59 A.3d 1252, 1262 (D.C. 2013) (“We apply the harmless error test of *Kotteakos v. United States*, [328 U.S. 750, 764-65 (1946),] to the erroneous admission of prior crimes evidence.”).

theory of the case” jury instruction did not mention actual impossibility, which is not surprising because there was no evidence that would have supported such an instruction. Rather, the defense theory was that N.C. “made up this alleged sexual abuse to deflect her mother’s anger after her family discovered on July 30th, 2019, that she had been cutting herself” (3/20/24 Tr. 86). That the defense theory focused on the context of the delayed disclosure reinforces the significant probative value of the full context of that disclosure, including that Martinez-Moz sexually abused N.C. again a month before the disclosure and that N.C. subsequently found evidence of Martinez-Moz’s presence in her bedroom. *Cf. Brown*, 840 A.2d at 94 (“[T]he challenged evidence served to place the charged crimes in context because it aided the jury in understanding what finally prompted S.T. to come forward with her serious allegations.”).

In any event, even Martinez-Moz acknowledges (albeit in a footnote), that she did not present any “actual impossibility” evidence at trial. *See* Br. 19 n.3 (noting that Martinez-Moz did not “testify[] in her own defense,” “introduce evidence of her prior relationships exclusively with biological males,” or “request an actual impossibility instruction”). Thus, Martinez-Moz cannot credibly contend that this “defense was clear” and “the defense theme was one of actual impossibilities that

[she] could not have done these crimes due to her identity as a transgender woman” (*id.* (emphasis omitted)).⁶

Martinez-Moz’s claim also fails to address that, had she tried to mount an “actual impossibility” defense, she would likely have opened the door to the admission of *more* other-crimes evidence. As the government pointed out, if Martinez-Moz presented evidence suggesting that she was not capable of sexual performance with her penis, N.C.’s testimony about the 2017-2018 couch incident—in which Martinez-Moz ejaculated while raping N.C.—would become “extremely relevant and probative” as “direct evidence that [Martinez-Moz] was capable of sexual arousal and performance” (R.709 (Government Reconsideration Motion 6)).

Cf. Valdez v. United States, 320 A.3d 339, 365-67 (D.C. 2024), *cert. petition filed*, No. 25-5537 (Sept. 3, 2025) (where defense cross-examination suggested that government witness belatedly fabricated her testimony about the defendant’s confession to an unsolved murder, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in permitting the government to elicit that history of domestic violence explained witness’ failure to tell police about the confession at an earlier time); *Pitt v. United States*, 220 A.3d 951, 962 (D.C. 2019) (defendant’s testimony that created

⁶ There was no evidence that Martinez-Moz was only “attracted to men” or that her “prior relationships [were] exclusively with biological males” (Br.17, 19 n.3). Without Martinez-Moz’s testimony, it is unclear how such evidence could be elicited or why it would be admissible.

“misleading impression” that he was “just a fence” who only committed “minor” crimes “opened the door” to evidence that he had committed uncharged burglary). Here, the trial court never ruled on the government’s motion for reconsideration on the admissibility of the couch incident because Martinez-Moz decided not to “take that gamble” and chose not to call her experts (3/19/24 Tr. 225, 269).

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